










































 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

Attachments: 

Jeff Timmer <jeff@tworiverspublicaffairs.com> 
Monday, July 19, 2021 3:21 PM 
SOS, Disclosure 
Campaign Finance Complaint RE: James Craig 
Timmer Complaint 071921.pdf; Timmer Complaint - Exhibit 1 (1).pdf; 
Timmer Complaint - Exhibit 2 (1).pdf; Timmer Complaint - Exhibit 3 
(1).pdf; Timmer Complaint - Exhibit 4 (1).pdf; Timmer Complaint 
Exhibit 5 (1).pdf; Timmer Complaint - Exhibit 6 (1).pdf; Timmer 
Complaint - Exhibit 7 (1).pdf 

CAUTION: This is an External email. Please send suspicious emails to abuse@michigan.gov 

Please see the attached campaign finance complaint and substantiating exhibits. 

Jeff Timmer 
517-203-8001
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April 25, 2022 

 
John W. Inhulsen 
Attorney for James Craig 
Inhulsen Law 
3351 Claystone St. SE, Suite 104 
Grand Rapids, MI 
 
Re:  Craig v. Timmer 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 2021-07-16-224 
 

Dear Mr. Inhulsen: 
 
The Department of State (Department) has finished investigating the campaign finance 
complaint filed against your client James Craig by Jeff Timmer alleging violations of the 
Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA). This letter concerns the disposition of that complaint. 
 
The complaint alleges that Mr. Craig violated the MCFA by failing to create a candidate 
committee after Mr. Craig became a candidate for governor. Specifically, the complaint claims 
that Mr. Craig had not filed a statement of organization prior to appearances on the Fox News 
Channel and the Fox Business Channel, and that those appearances were intended to further Mr. 
Craig’s election. The complaint also alleges that Mr. Craig began working with a John Yob, a 
political consultant, more than a month prior to filing his statement of organization. The 
complaint included a number of news articles and photos to substantiate its factual claims. 
 
Acting as Mr. Craig’s attorney, you responded to the complaint. In that response, you state that 
Mr. Craig filed the statement of organization for his candidate committee on July 21, 2021, and 
you argue that Mr. Craig’s television appearances were undertaken in Mr. Craig’s personal 
capacity before he became a candidate.  
 
Mr. Timmer submitted a rebuttal statement, which reiterated the arguments in the complaint and 
argues that hearsay is admissible in administrative procedures in Michigan. The rebuttal also 
contains three news articles purporting to show that Mr. Craig made expenditures on his 
campaign prior to July 11, 2021.  
 

http://www.michigan.gov/Elections
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In Michigan, a person becomes a candidate for the purposes of the MCFA when they “receive[] a 
contribution, make[] an expenditure, or give[] consent for another person to receive a 
contribution or make an expenditure with a view to bringing about the individual’s nomination or 
election to an elective office.”1 MCL 169.203(1)(c). The words “contribution” and “expenditure” 
are terms of art that are generally defined to include a payment or transfer of anything of 
ascertainable monetary value made for the purpose of influencing or made in assistance of the 
qualification, passage, or defeat of a ballot question. MCL 169.204(1), 169.206(1). Within 10 
days of becoming a candidate, the candidate must form a candidate committee. MCL 169.221(1). 
Within 10 days of its formation, that candidate committee must file a statement of organization. 
MCL 169.224(1). In other words, a candidate must file a statement of organization within 20 
days of receiving a contribution, making an expenditure, or allowing a third party to receive a 
contribution or make an expenditure on their behalf. 
 
The Department has reviewed the evidence submitted in this matter and concludes that 
insufficient evidence has been submitted to support a finding that a potential violation of the 
MCFA has occurred. While Mr. Craig may have formed the intent to run for office prior to July 
17, intent to become a candidate does not trigger the requirements of the MCFA. The complaint 
does not allege specific contributions received by Mr. Craig or expenditures made by Mr. Craig 
to further his election more than twenty days prior to the statement of organization being filed.2 
The only specific expenses incurred by Mr. Craig referenced in the complaint are the cost of Mr. 
Craig appearing on television programs and the potential “hiring” of Mr. Yob by Mr. Craig. The 
costs that Mr. Craig incurred by appearing on television are not explained in sufficient detail for 
the Department to conclude that the costs were expenditures for the purposes of the MCFA. 
Specifically, the complaint does not argue that Mr. Craig purchased an internet connection in 
order to appear on television, nor that appearing on television in any way increased the cost of 
Mr. Craig’s internet services beyond what he would have paid if he had not appeared on 
television. The complaint further fails to specify if Mr. Craig used a paid video conference 
platform to appear on television, or to specify that Mr. Craig, and not the television station, paid 
for that platform. 
 
Likewise, though Mr. Timmer’s rebuttal states that the attached news articles show that Mr. 
Craig had “hired” Mr. Yob prior to July 11, 2021, the news article in question only states that 
“Yob and his Grand Rapids-based political consulting firm Strategic National LLC had been 
working with Craig since at least the early summer to stand up a gubernatorial campaign.” While 
“working with” may imply that Mr. Craig paid Mr. Yob, it can also imply that Mr. Yob was 
working on a volunteer basis, or merely that Mr. Yob and Mr. Craig were having conversations 

 
1 A person may become a candidate in other ways, but none of those paths to candidacy are relevant to this 
determination and thus are not discussed. MCL 169.203(1). 
2 The complaint includes photos allegedly showing Mr. Craig appearing with staffers at a speech he gave on July 6. 
Because the statement of organization was filed fewer than 20 days after that speech, even if the speech was made 
solely for the purposes of furthering Mr. Craig’s nomination, and even if funds were spent on the speech or 
preparation for that speech, the expenditures would not conflict with the MCFA so long as they were properly 
reported. Because the complaint does not allege a failure to properly report expenditures, the Department does not 
make a determination on the sufficiency of Mr. Craig’s candidate committee’s campaign statements. 
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about a potential election campaign without any work being done by Mr. Yob. Beyond the 
allegations relating to television appearances and Mr. Yob’s employment, the complaint includes 
a number of articles showing that Mr. Craig prepared to be a candidate prior to filing his 
statement of organization on July 17, but no articles claiming that Mr. Craig made any 
expenditures or received any contributions prior to July 17.  
 
Because the violation of the MCFA alleged in the complaint has not been substantiated by 
sufficient evidence, the Department dismisses the complaint and will take no further enforcement 
action. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Adam Fracassi, Regulatory Manager 
Bureau of Elections 
Michigan Department of State 
 

C: Jeff Timmer, via email 
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